Humber Bridge Board Statement of Accounts 2021-22

Table of Contents

a)		2021	-22 Accounts - Narrative Statement	3
b)		State	ement of Responsibilities	9
c)		Certi	ificate of the Chief Financial Officer	10
d)		Certi	ificate of the Chair of the Board	10
e)	I	Inde	pendent auditor's report	11
1.		Com	prehensive Income & Expenditure Account	14
2.		Bala	nce Sheet	15
3.		Cash	flow Statement	16
4.		Mov	ement in Reserves Statement	17
5.		Note	es to the Accounts	18
	5.1	1.	Accounting Policies	18
	5.2	2.	Pensions	32
	5.3	3.	Auditors Fees	34
	5.4	1.	Termination Benefits	35
	5.5	5.	Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure	35
	5.6	5.	Capital Expenditure and Financing	35
	5.7	7.	Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted	36
	5.8	3.	Other Operating Expenditure	36
	5.9	Э.	Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure	36
	5.1	10.	Movement of Non-Current Assets	37
	5.1	11.	Inventories	38
	5.1	12.	Short & Long-Term Debtors	38
	5.1	13.	Short-term Investments	38
	5.1	14.	Cash and Cash Equivalents	38
	5.1	15.	Creditors: Amounts falling due within 1 year	39
	5.1	16.	Creditors: Amounts falling due after 1 year	39
	5.1	17.	Long Term Liabilities	39
	5.1	18.	Related Party Transactions	39
	5.1	19.	Cash Flow Note	40
	5.2	20.	Disclosure of Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments	40
	5.2	21.	Reserves	44
	5.2	22.	Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Sources of Estimation Uncertainty	46

a) 2021-22 Accounts - Narrative Statement

Organisational overview and external environment

The Humber Bridge opened to traffic in 1981 and since that date has provided a vital connection between the north and south banks of the Humber Estuary, benefitting the region in terms of both social connectivity and economic development.

The Humber Bridge Board (the Board) operates as a self contained organisation and has in place a structure to ensure it can carry out its primary function:

- Maintain the assets in a safe and serviceable condition
- Ensure traffic passes freely between the north and south banks
- Collect the toll income (which is the only revenue the Board receives)

The Board also has to comply with various duties and legislative requirements in carrying out its functions. These include but are not limited to; Humber Bridge Acts, Highway and Traffic Authority, and Financial reporting to CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK.

The Board is a statutory body created pursuant to the Humber Bridge Act 1959 and amended by subsequent Acts, the most recent being the 2013 Act. The various Acts give the Board a number of powers, including:

- to construct and afterwards operate and maintain the bridge and approach roads; to acquire the necessary land and to borrow such sums as necessary to build the bridge and take tolls from vehicle users.
- to promote the economic development of the Humber area
- to provide economic, social, cultural and environmental benefits to the residents of and visitors to the area
- to carry over any net deficit for up to two years which, if it cannot be made good, is recoverable from the four constituent local authorities in equal proportion
- to exercise a new general borrowing power for any relevant purpose
- to amend tolls but requires consultation with the Secretary of State, users and the local population if a proposed increase is more than inflation as measured by the retail prices index.

The Board's primary assets are:

- 2.4 miles of A15 dual carriageway
- 1.4 miles of suspension bridge (3 span)
- 4no highway bridges
- Offices, buildings and workshops
- c. 20 acres of estate (hardstanding car parks and landscaped) areas

Governance

The Board's governance is set out in the Constitution and Standing Orders of the Humber Bridge Board. This is discussed in more detail in the Annual Governance Statement which accompanies these Annual Accounts.

There are six Board Directors; four from the local authorities and two from the Local Enterprise Partnership:

Cllr Sean Chaytor, Chair, Hull City Council Cll Richard Hannigan, Deputy Chair, North Lincolnshire Council Cll Stanley Shreeve, North East Lincolnshire Council Cllr Chris Matthews, East Riding of Yorkshire Council Stephen Parnaby OBE, Hull & East Yorkshire LEP Peter Drenon, *Humber* LEP

The Chair and Deputy Chair were appointed for a 3 year term (June 2019 to June 2022). At the June 2022 AGM, the Board appointed Cllr Richard Hannigan as Chair and Cllr Chris Matthews as Deputy Chair.

The Board's senior management team at the start of 2021/22 was:

Chief Operating Officer Deputy Chief Operating Officer

The role of Clerk to the Board was undertaken by Hull City Council and the role of Treasurer undertaken by North Lincolnshire Council.

Risks and opportunities

Following the 2013 Act and the subsequent reduction in tolls and refinancing of the loan in April 2015 (£166.6m), the Board has been producing and operating an annual budget based on annual growth in traffic with other cost increases in line with inflation.

In the years prior to March 2020 and the subsequent Covid Pandemic, actual traffic growth has exceeded the budget forecast and this together with good financial cost controls ensured the targeted surplus in year was met as part of the long-term loan repayment plan.

This strategy, however, relies on continued growth of traffic and that operating and overhead costs do not rise significantly on an annual basis. If traffic growth starts to slow or plateaus and costs increase, this will put budget pressure on the maintenance fund that is needed to ensure the assets are maintained in a safe and serviceable condition.

The Board has also identified that there are several high value capital projects in the near future and consideration will need to be given as to how these are funded, as the current generated annual maintenance fund of c. £3m will not be sufficient.

As reported last year Covid significantly affected the Board's income for 2020/21 and as the country started to return to normal, it was important that the Board set a robust and prudent budget for 2021/22. This was based on an assumed traffic volume taking into account what had happened in 2020/21 and being mindful that covid was still in circulation.

Fortunately, traffic performed better than forecast and resulted in an end of year improvement of £3.89m on the expected income. However, it is noted that this replaces the lost expected income in 2020/21 as a result of the covid pandemic.

Although traffic performed better than forecast, traffic levels were still less than pre-2020. This did however, enable the Board to prepare and approve a budget based on class 2 traffic at 96% of pre 2020 and class 4 at 103% as once again we saw class 4 traffic perform strongly in 2021/22.

At the time of writing this narrative, inflation has started to climb and there is concern about the cost of living and how this will affect the public over the year. This may have an impact on expected income particularly with class 2 traffic. The rising inflation and energy prices are also affecting the Board's running and operational costs, which is likely to impact on current budget and expenditure. This will be monitored.

The last two years have been subject to significant change due to covid and this still continues, which makes it difficult to assess if the Board has been impacted by Brexit. This issue still remains on the Strategic Risk Register and will be monitored. Another consequence of covid working is the longer term impact of 'home working' and again, because of the last two years it is very difficult to assess if we are seeing this continue or it will increase in the future. We continue to monitor the situation, however, without a 'normal' baseline to work from, it is difficult to determine if this is happening.

As discussed above, the two scenarios warn of reduced traffic and possible long term revenue reductions for the Board. However, with the creation of the Humber Freeport there is an opportunity for traffic growth, in particular Class 4 which may counter some of the above.

The Humber Bridge is across the Humber Estuary in what can be described as a marine environment and therefore is often subject to strong winds. Whilst these strong winds can and do result in restrictions to traffic, which affects mainly Class 4 vehicles, this is an annual occurrence and is built into the traffic forecasts and therefore Budgets. However, when a significant weather event occurs, such as the three Storms Dudley, Eunice and Franklyn in February 2022, this has a short term impact on income due to the reduction in mainly Class 4 vehicles.

In addition to a significant weather event, there are other unplanned events outside of the Board's control which can affect income. This includes road traffic accidents and also drivers ignoring advice about crossing during strong winds. Although both events do not normally have a significant impact on income, an example of the latter resulted in a full northbound closure for most of the day, which did affect income.

In summary, the above explains that post covid, traffic is starting to recover, however, class 2 is still not at pre-covid levels and again without any growth. Whilst class 4 is performing strongly, it is class 2 traffic which has the biggest impact on the Board's income.

If class 2 traffic does not continue to show a year- on -year sustained growth, it will make forecasting the Board's budget difficult and will have a significant impact on the longer-term financial planning and ability to carry out maintenance.

It is also noted that if inflation and energy prices continue to rise at their current rate, it will place a financial pressure on the current budget and may result in a reduced maintenance fund in year and future years if income is not as forecast.

Strategy and resource allocation

The Board produces a short-term cash flow forecast to show a range of scenarios in terms of traffic growth and inflation as part of the Budget setting and approval on an annual basis. This is also revised in year to reflect changes and as part of financial planning.

The 2021/22 forecast showed that assuming a realistic traffic recovery from 2020/21 and reasonable inflation, the Board can continue with all operations and activity. However, it is noted that due to the reduced forecast, the available Maintenance Fund for the year was £1.3m, which is considerably less than the previous average of around £3m. It is noted that this in year reduction and with a return to c. £3m per year, this will not be sufficient to deliver some of the larger capital schemes. The Board are considering future borrowing requirements to address this.

The Board's forecast and budget strategy ensures the Board can deliver its core functions and also maintain its loan repayments to the PWLB.

The Board monitors and reviews the use of resources to ensure they are prudent and demonstrate value for money.

Performance

As discussed above the better than forecast traffic in 2021/22 resulted in a total traffic volume for the year of 9,722,653.

Year	Total Traffic	Compared to 2021/22 Traffic - 9,722,653	% Variance
2019/20	10,127,800	Reduction of 405,147	(4%)
2020/21	7,242,350	Increase of 2,480,303	26%

The table below shows this in comparison to the two previous years.

A detailed breakdown of the traffic figures by Class is shown below.

Traffic Class	Vehicle description	Traffic (Transits)
Class 1	Class 1 Motorcycles (with/without sidecar)	
Class 2	2 axles up to 3.5t (incl trailers/caravans)	8,996,191
Class 3	2 axles 3.5t to 7.5t (incl minibus/coach/agricultural)	192,104
Class 4	3 axles or more and over 7.5t	534,358

NB: the above figures include exempt and concession traffic as per the Humber Bridge Act

The above increase in traffic resulted in a final year revenue of ± 21.4 m compared to the forecast Budget of ± 17.4 m.

Α	summary	ofp	erformance	against the	Budget	is shown	below:
/ \	Sammary	O P	chronnance	uguinst the	Duuget	13 3110 4411	DCIOW.

		Actual	Budget	Variance
		£'000	£'000	£'000
Income	Revenue	21,397	17,391	4005
Costs	Operations	2,105	1,942	(163)
	Maintenance	851	963	112
	Overheads	3,128	3,187	59
	Depreciation	3,761	4,909	1,148
	Major & Minor Works	648	617	(31)
		10,494	11,619	1,124
	Net Operating Income	10,902	5,772	5,130
Financing	Interest	3,084	3,082	(2)
	Surplus/Deficit	7,818	2,690	5,128

The Operating Costs budget was overspent as a result of the unplanned costs associated with the closure (and subsequent opening with restrictions) of the bridge footways in April 2021 following a cluster of suspected suicides.

The above shows that the Board controlled and managed costs within budget and achieved a better than forecast year end surplus.

The Board made both loan and interest payments to the PWLB and at the end of the 2021-22 financial year the outstanding loan amount is £115,895,652

Outlook

The outlook for the Board and continuing to deliver on its core functions can still be considered to be good and sustainable.

The Board's income was significantly affected in 2020/21 and this directly impacted on the maintenance fund provision, however, the better than forecast performance in 2021/22 has helped to restore that lost income. This does mean however, that the maintenance programme has been affected and has had to be revised accordingly.

As discussed above the Board has identified several large capital schemes, which will not be affordable based on the current allocation for maintenance in the annual budget and will require additional funding.

The Board will monitor the situation with regards the longer-term effects of Covid and Brexit, and also the current ongoing issue of inflation and rising energy prices as to any impact on the current budget in terms of both income and expenditure. This may require a review of the budget in year and may also have an impact on future budgets in the short term. This would have an impact on the maintenance fund provision.

The Humber Bridge continues to provide a vital connection to the region and its use for both social and economic needs. These needs are long term and will continue to deliver income.

The Board is in a financially strong position with a positive Balance sheet and c. £28m in Reserves.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/2022 (the Code). The purpose of this narrative statement is to explain, in an easy to understand way, the financial facts in relation to the Humber Bridge Board.

This Statement of Accounts explains the financial performance during the year 2021/2022 and its financial position at the end of that year. It follows approved accounting standards and is necessarily technical in parts.

The Narrative Statement is not part of the financial statements but is prepared on the basis that it is consistent with the financial statements. Its purpose is to comment on the financial performance of the Board and demonstrate how income generated is used to operate and maintain the bridge over the financial year.

b) Statement of Responsibilities

The Board's Responsibilities

The Board is required to:

- Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this organisation, that officer is the Treasurer (constitution section 6,1.2)
- Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient, and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets.
- Approve the Statement of Accounts.

Chief Financial Officer's Responsibilities

The Treasurer fulfils the functions of the Chief Financial Officer and is responsible for ensuring the preparation of the Board's Statement of Accounts are in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Treasurer (section 6, 4.2) has:

- ensured suitable accounting policies have been applied consistently
- made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent
- ensured they complied with the local authority Code.
- kept proper accounting records which were up to date
- taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Chief Operating Officer's Responsibilities

The Chief Operating Officer:

• is responsible for providing the Treasurer with all necessary information and access to all documents and records under his/her control, as the Treasurer requires to enable him/her to fulfil his/her obligations set out above. (section 6 1.3)

• shall ensure that those systems are observed and that those accounts and supporting records for which he is responsible are kept up to date (section 6 4.2)

• is required to provide the Treasurer with all information he requires to produce a timely and accurate Statement of Accounts. (section 6 15.1)

c) Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer

I certify that:

(a) The Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31st March 2022 has been prepared in the form directed by the Code and under the accounting policies set out in note 5.1.

(b) In my opinion the Statement of Accounts presents fairly the income and expenditure and cash flows for the financial year and the financial position as at the end of the financial year.

B. McIntyre

Becky McIntyre Treasurer to the Humber Bridge Board 7th December 2022

d) Certificate of the Chair of the Board

On behalf of the Humber Bridge Board I certify that these accounts were approved by the Board at the meeting held on 21st October 2022.

R Hannigan

Councillor Richard Hannigan Chair of the Humber Bridge Board 7th December 2022

mazars

Independent auditor's report to the Members of the Humber Bridge Board

Report on the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Humber Bridge Board for the year ended 31 March 2022. The financial statements comprise, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash flow Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 adapted in respect of the measurement basis for the Humber Bridge as described in note 5.1 sub-note xvi.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the financial position of Humber Bridge Board as at 31st March 2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities section of our report. We are independent of the Board in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Treasurer's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Board's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Treasurer with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The Treasurer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

mazars

Responsibilities of the Treasurer for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Treasurer's Responsibilities, the Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Treasurer is also responsible for such internal control as the Treasurer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Treasurer is required to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis on the assumption that the functions of the Board will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Treasurer is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the Board to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Based on our understanding of the Board, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the Local Government Act 2003 (and associated regulations made under section 21), the Local Government Finance Acts of 1988, 1992 and 2012, and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements.

We evaluated the Treasurer's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates and significant one-off or unusual transactions.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

- discussing with management and the Board the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations;
- communicating identified laws and regulations throughout our engagement team and remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and
- considering the risk of acts by the Board which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud.

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to:

- making enquiries of management and the Board on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
- gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;

mazars

- discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and
- addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management and the Board. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.

We are also required to conclude on whether the Treasurer's use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. We performed our work in accordance with Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom, and Supplementary Guidance Note 01, issued by the National Audit Office in April 2021.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Mark Kirkham, Partner For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 5th Floor 3 Wellington Place Leeds LS1 4AP

December 2022

		Note	<u>2020/21</u> £'000	<u>2021/22</u> £'000
Income			(16,036)	(21,397)
Expenditure				
	Employees		3,809	4,775
	Structures		400	343
	Premises		629	789
	Service		749	914
	Supplies		233	275
	Transport		79	113
	Miscellaneous		559	465
	Depreciation		5,051	3,761
			11,509	11,435
Net Income			<u>(4,527)</u>	<u>(9,961)</u>
	Financing Income and Expenditure	5	3,353	3,217
	Other Operating Expenditure	7	0	0
Total CIES			<u>(1,174)</u>	<u>(6,744)</u>
	Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability	8	2,349	(3,020)
Total Compreh	ensive Income and Expenditure		1,175	(9,764)

1. Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Account

2. Balance Sheet

		2020	/21	202:	1/22
	<u>Note</u>	- £'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Non-current assets					
Property, Plant & Equipment	10		441,868		465,939
Long Term Debtors	12		600		735
Current Accete					
Current Assets	11	293		244	
Inventory					
Short Term Debtors	12	392		395	
Investments	13	2,910		6,460	
Cash	14	151	2 746	119	7 210
			<u>3,746</u>		<u>7,218</u>
Short Term Liabilities	15		(11,024)		(10,806)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities			<u>435,190</u>		<u>463,086</u>
Long Term Creditors	16	(115,896)		(108,652)	
Other Long Term Liabilities	17	(6,433)		(4,345)	
			<u>(122,329)</u>		<u>(112,997)</u>
Net Assets		-	312,861		350,090
_					
Reserves Usable Reserves					
Revenue Reserve	21		30,587		22,042
Usable Capital Receipts Reserves	21		96		96
Maintenance Reserve	21		5,578		5,578
Unusable Reserves					
Revaluation	21		159,558		173,212
Capital Adjustment Account	21		122,875		152,772
Pensions Reserve	21		(6,433)		(4,345)
Deferred Capital Receipts	21		600		735
-		_			
		-	312,861		350,090

3. Cashflow Statement

	<u>2020/21</u> £'000	<u>2021/22</u> £'000
Net Surplus	1,174	6,744
Adjustments for non-cash movements	5,994	4,522
	7,168	11,266
Investing Activities	(1,890)	(3,550)
Capital Activities	(414)	(503)
Financing Activities	(7,244)	(7,244)
Net Increase/Decrease in cash equivalents	(2,380)	(31)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April	2,531	151
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March	151	119

4. Movement in Reserves Statement

	Revenue Reserve	Capital Receipts	Maintenance Fund	Total Usable Reserves	Revaluation Reserve	Capital Adjustment Account	Deferred Capital Recepts	Pension Reserve	Total Unusable Reserves	Total Reserves
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2020	25,150	96	5,578	30,824	112,628	126,707	600	(3,653)	236,282	267,106
Movement in Reserves during 2020/21			-,	,		,		(-,,		
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure	(1,175)			(1,175)					0	(1,175)
Adjustments from income and expenditure charged under the accounting basis to the funding basis	6,612			6,612	46,930	(3,832)	0	(2,780)	40,318	46,930
Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves	5,437	0	0	5,437	46,930	(3,832)	0	(2,780)	40,318	45,755
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves				0					0	0
Increase/(Decrease) in 2020/21	5,437	0	0	5,437	46,930	(3,832)	0	(2,780)	40,318	45,755
Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2021	30,587	96	5,578	36,261	159,558	122,875	600	(6,433)	276,600	312,861
Movement in Reserves during 2021/22										
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure	9,764			9,764					0	9,764
Adjustments from income and expenditure charged under the accounting basis to the funding basis	(18,309)	0		(18,309)	13,654	29,897	135	2,088	45,774	27,465
Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves	(8,545)	0	0	(8,545)	13,654	29,897	135	2,088	45,774	37,229
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves	0			0					0	0
Increase/(Decrease) in 2021/22	(8,545)	0	0	(8,545)	13,654	29,897	135	2,088	45,774	37,229
Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2022	22,042	96	5,578	27,716	173,212	152,772	735	(4,345)	322,374	350,090

5. Notes to the Accounts

5.1. Accounting Policies

i. General Principles

The Statement of Accounts summarises the board's transactions for the 2021/2022 financial year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2022. The board is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/2022, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

ii. Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular:

- Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods, is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.
- Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet where individual inventory categories are above £100,000.
- Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made.
- Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.
- Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. In respect of both capital and revenue transactions, the board operates on the normal accruals concept of income and expenditure above the board's de minimis threshold of £10,000.

iii. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with a low risk of change in value.

Cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the board's cash management.

iv. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the board's financial position or financial performance.

Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

v. Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:

- depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service
- revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off
- amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.

The board is not required to raise bridge tolls to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis in accordance with statutory guidance. Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation are therefore replaced by the Minimum Revenue Provision, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.

vii. Employee Benefits

Benefits Payable During Employment

Short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave and expenses are paid on a monthly basis and reflected as expenditure in the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Termination Benefits

When the board is demonstrably committed to the termination of the employment of an officer or group of officers, or making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy, these costs are charged on an accruals basis to the respective service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Post-employment Benefits

Employees of the board are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by East Riding of Yorkshire Council.

These schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees worked for the board.

The Local Government Pension Scheme

The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

- The liabilities of the East Riding pension fund attributable to the board are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projected earnings for current employees.
- The assets of East Riding pension fund attributable to the board are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value.

The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:

Service cost comprising:

- current service cost the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year
 – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for
 which the employees worked
- past service cost the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
- net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. net interest expense for the board

 the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

Re-measurements comprising:

- the return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
- actuarial gains and losses changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
- contributions paid to the East Riding pension fund cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the board to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Discretionary Benefits

The board has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

viii. Events After the Reporting Period

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period the Statement
 of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would
 have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their
 estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.

ix. Financial Instruments

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the board becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.

For most of the borrowings that the board has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.

Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the Revenue reserve to be spread over future years. The board has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the Revenue reserve is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Financial Assets

The board's business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments are not solely payment of principal and interest (ie where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument).

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the board becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.

Expected Credit Loss Model

The board recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model also applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the board.

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses.

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit of Loss

Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.

The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques:

- instruments with quoted market prices the market price
- other instruments with fixed and determinable payments discounted cash flow analysis.

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the following three levels:

- Level 1 inputs quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the authority can access at the measurement date.
- Level 2 inputs inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.
- Level 3 inputs unobservable inputs for the asset.

Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

x. Government Grants and Contributions

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the board when there is reasonable assurance that:

- the board will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and
- the grants or contributions will be received.

Amounts recognised as due to the board are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure (non-ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

xi. Intangible Assets

Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the board as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the board. Internally generated assets are capitalised where it is demonstrable that the project is technically feasible and is intended to be completed (with adequate resources being available) and the board will be able to generate future economic benefits or deliver service potential by being able to sell or use the asset. Expenditure is capitalised where it can be measured reliably as attributable to the asset and is restricted to that incurred during the development phase.

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and then carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the Revenue reserve. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

xii. Inventories

Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The board has set a de minimis value of £100,000, below which inventories are not held on balance sheet.

xiii. Investment Property

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale (in the ordinary course of operations).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use.

Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the yearend. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and result in a gain for the Revenue reserve. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the Revenue reserve. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

xiv. Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately.

The Board as Lessee

Finance Leases

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the board are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease payments are apportioned between:

- a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment applied to write down the lease liability, and
- a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the board at the end of the lease period).

The board is not required to meet the costs of depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on leased assets from its income. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the Revenue reserve, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.

Operating Leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease).

The Board as Lessor

Finance Leases

Where the board grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the board's net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between:

- a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received), and
- finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the Revenue reserve and is required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the Revenue reserve to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the Revenue reserve to the

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the board's revenue reserve, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Operating Leases

Where the board grants an operating lease over an asset, this is retained on the Balance Sheet. Rental income is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a straightline basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.

xv. Overheads and Support Services

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the board's arrangements for accountability and financial performance.

xvi. Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

Recognition

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the board and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (ie. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.

Measurement

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

- the purchase price
- any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management

The board does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred while assets are under construction.

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (ie. it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of the board). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the board.

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the Revenue reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:

- assets under construction and community assets (without a determinable finite useful life) historical cost
- infrastructure, community assets (with a determinable finite useful life) depreciated historical cost
- all other assets are measured at current value

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value. This is the approach that the Board has taken with the valuation of the Humber bridge identified under Infrastructure at Note 5.10 of the financial statements. The valuation has been carried out by the Board's head of Engineering & Infrastructure taking into account the condition of the bridge and its components and the estimated replacement costs based upon industry indices.

Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.

It was decided in July,2022 that the Bridge Structure's useful life would be extended to 120 years. This was done by the COO in accordance with the Eurocodes design standard, which superseded BS5400.

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a service.

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:

- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)
- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

Impairment

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided for on all property, plant and equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).

Depreciation is normally charged in the first full year of operational use, except where stated, and calculated on the following bases:

- buildings straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer.
- vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment a percentage of the value of each class of assets in the Balance Sheet, as advised by a suitably qualified officer. Depreciation is charged on vehicles from the point of initial use.
- infrastructure straight-line allocation over its technically assessed life.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an asset held for sale. The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any losses previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on assets held for sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as held for sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as assets held for sale. When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether property, plant and equipment or assets held for sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. The receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve from the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The reserves can then only be used for new capital investment, or set aside to reduce the board's underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement).

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the board's revenue reserve, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the Revenue reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

xvii. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the board a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the board may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the board has an obligation and are measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the board settles the obligation.

Contingent Liabilities

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the board a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the board. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts.

Contingent Assets

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the board a possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the board.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.

xviii. Reserves

The board sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts out of the board's Revenue Reserve.

When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then transferred back into through the movements in reserves so that there is no net charge against the board's revenue reserve for the expenditure.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the board – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies.

xix. Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the board has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the Revenue reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of bridge tolls.

xx. VAT

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

xxi. Fair Value Measurement

The board measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment properties and some of its financial instruments such as bonds at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The board measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the board takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The board uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the board's financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows:

- Level 1 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the board can access at the measurement date
- Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
- Level 3 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

5.2. Pensions

Period ended 31 March 2022	Assets	Obligations	Net (liability)/asset
	£'000	£'000	£'000
Fair value of plan assets	18,778		18,778
Present value of funded liabilities		25,160	(25,160)
Present value of unfunded liabilities		51	(51)
Opening Position as at 31 March 2021	18,778	25,211	(6,433)
Service cost			
Current service cost*		1,276	(1,276)
Past service cost (including curtailments)			0
Effect of settlements			0
Total Service Cost	0	1,276	(1,276)
Net interest			
Interest income on plan assets	375		375
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation		512	(512)
Total net interest	375	512	(137)
Total defined benefit cost recognised in Surplus or (Deficit)	375	1,788	(1,413)
Cashflows			
Participants' contributions	172	172	0
Employer contributions	478		478
Estimated benefits paid	(659)	(659)	0
Estimated unfunded benefits paid	(3)	(3)	0
Estimated contributions in respect of unfunded benefits paid	3		3
Effect of business combinations and disposals			0
Expected closing position	19,144	26,509	(7,365)
Remeasurements			
Changes in financial assumptions		(1,617)	1,617
Changes in demographic assumptions		(141)	141
Other experience		56	(56)
Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest	1,318		1,318
Total remeasurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income	1,318	(1,702)	3,020
Fair value of plan assets	20,462		20,462
Present value of funded liabilities		24,760	(24,760)
Present value of unfunded liabilities**		47	(47)
Closing position as at 31 March 2022	20,462	24,807	(4,345)

Analysis of Pension Fund Assets

	Period Ended 31 March 2022			
Asset Category	Quoted	Unquoted	Total	Percentage of Total Assets
	£'000	£'000	£'000	
Equity Securities				
Consumer	-	-	-	0.0%
Manufacturing	-	-	-	0.0%
Energy and Utilities	-	-	-	0.0%
Financial Institutions	-	-	-	0.0%
Heath and Care	-	-	-	0.0%
Information technology	-	-	-	0.0%
Other	2,454.3	-	2,454.3	12.0%
Debt Securities				
Corporate Bonds (investment grade)	-	-	-	0.0%
Corporate Bonds (non-investment grade)	64.6	875.4	940.0	4.6%
UK Government	537.2	-	537.2	2.6%
Other	322.5	-	322.5	1.6%
Private Equity				
All	586.8	908.1	1,494.9	7.3%
Real Estate				
UK Property	738.9	1,593.1	2,332.0	11.4%
Overseas Property	-	-	-	0.0%
Investment Funds and Unit Trusts				
Equities	8,228.5	-	8,228.5	40.2%
Bonds	1,746.7	36.2	1,782.9	8.7%
Hedge Funds	-	-	-	0.0%
Commodities	-	-	-	0.0%
Infrastructure	481.4	912.9	1,394.3	6.8%
Other	191.7	520.8	712.5	3.5%
Derivatives				
Inflation	-	-	-	0.0%
Interest Rate	-	-	-	0.0%
Foreign Exchange	-	-	-	0.0%
Other	-	-	-	0.0%
Cash and Cash Equivalents				
All	262.9	-	262.9	1.3%
Totals	15,615.5	4,846.5	20,462.0	100.0%

Actuarial Assumptions

Mortality

Life Expectancy	Males	Females
Current Pensioners	20.8 years	23.5 years
Future Pensioners	22.0 years	25.3 years

This is a sensitivity analysis of the Actuarial Assumptions used in the figures above.

Change in assumptions at 31 March 2022	Approximate % increase to Defined Benefit Obligation	Approximate monetary amount (£000)
0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate	2%	443
1 year increase in member life expectancy	4%	992
0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate	0%	26
0.1% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI)	2%	414

The following table provides a projection of the financial impact on the Board during the following financial year.

Period Ended 31 March 2023	Assets	Obligations	Net (liab	ility)/asset
Feriou Lindeu SI March 2025	£'000	£'000	£'000	% of pay
Projected Current service cost	-	1,139	(1,139)	(44.1%)
Past service cost including curtailments	-	-	-	
Effect of settlements	-	-	-	
Total Service Cost	-	1,139	(1,139)	(44.1%)
Interest income on plan assets	551	-	551	21.3%
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation	-	678	(678)	(26.2%)
Total Net Interest Cost	551	678	(127)	(4.9%)
Total Included in Surplus and Deficit	551	1,817	(1,266)	(49.0%)

5.3. Auditors Fees

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Audit of the financial statements	38	38
Internal audit	1	12
	39	50

5.4. Termination Benefits

	20	20/21	202	21/22
Position at the Humber Bridge Board	Staff No	Exit Package £'000	Staff No	Exit Package £'000
Over £100k - £150k Over £80k - £100k Over £60k - £80k Over £40k - £60k Over £20k - £40k				
	0	0	0	0

5.5. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Interest Payable on Loans	3,269	3,083
Interest Receivable on Investments	(3)	(3)
Interest on Pension Obligations	88	137
	3,354	3,217

5.6. Capital Expenditure and Financing

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Opening Capital Financing requirement	160,240	159,435
Capital Investment in Year	414	503
Sources of Financing		
Capital Receipts	0	0
Revenue Financing	0	0
Utilisation of Maintenance Reserve	0	0
Minimum Revenue Provision	(1,219)	(19,982)
	159,435	139,956

5.7. Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted

Under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/2021 (the Code), the board is required to disclose information setting out the impact of an accounting change required by a new accounting standard that has been issued but not yet adopted by the Code.

At the Balance Sheet date, the following new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published but not yet adopted:

• IFRS 16 Leases (deferral to 1 April 2023): Will require relevant bodies that are lessees to recognise most leases on their balance sheets as right of use assets with corresponding lease liabilities. CIPFA/LASAAC have deferred implementation of IFRS16 for local government until 1 April 2022. The impact of implementing IFRS16 has not yet been calculated.

5.8. Other Operating Expenditure

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Gains/Losses on Disposal	0	0
	0	0

5.9. Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Pension-Remeasurement of Defined Benefit	4,778	(1,702)
Expected Return on Pension Assets	(2,429)	(1,318)
	2,349	(3,020)

5.10. Movement of Non-Current Assets

	Land and Buildings	Infrastructure	Surplus assets	Asset under construction	Vehicles, Plant & Equipment	Intangible Assets	Total
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cost or Valuation							
At April 2021	2,146	437,757	1,814	46	361	0	442,124
Additions				503			503
Disposals							0
Revaluation to Revaluation Reserve	(23)	24,056	(439)				23,594
Transfers							0
At 31 March 2022	2,123	461,813	1,375	549	361	0	466,221
Accumulated Depreciation							
At April 2021	(45)	0	0	0	(211)	0	(256)
Depreciation Charge in Year	(20)	(3,671)			(71)		(3,762)
Depreciation written off on Revaluation	65	3,671					3,736
Depreciation eliminated on disposal							0
Transfers							0
At 31 March 2022	0	0	0	0	(282)	0	(282)
Net Book Value							
At April 2021	2,101	437,757	1,814	46	150	0	441,868
At 31 March 2022	2,123	461,813	1,375	549	79	0	465,939

The Board reviewed the asset life of the bridge in 21/22 adjusting the asset life from 80 to 120 years going forward. This is consistent with the design life of the bridge and supported by the long -term maintenance programme that is in place. This has the impact of reducing the depreciation charge in year from £5.1m in 20/21 to £3.8m in 21/22 on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

5.11. Inventories

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Operational Stock	110	92
Maintenance Stock	23	20
Tag Stock	160	132
	293	244

5.12. Short & Long-Term Debtors

	2020/21	2021/22
	£'000	£'000
Trade Debtors	124	57
Prepayments	206	245
VAT	47	78
Impairment	(38)	0
Accrued Income	53	16
	392	395

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Deferred Capital Receipt	600	735
	600	735

5.13. Short-term Investments

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Short Term Investments	2,910	6,460
	2,910	6,460

5.14. Cash and Cash Equivalents

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Bank	151	119
	151	119

5.15. Creditors: Amounts falling due within 1 year

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Public Works Loans Board	7,243	7,243
Trade Creditors	609	467
TAG Creditors	1,181	1,361
TAG Deposits	1,348	1,456
VAT	66	89
Pre-Paid Tickets Creditor	320	0
Accruals and Deferred Income	52	111
Retentions held on Sub Contractors	153	15
Payroll	52	64
	11,024	10,806

5.16. Creditors: Amounts falling due after 1 year

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Public Works Loans Board	115,896	108,652
	115,896	108,652

5.17. Long Term Liabilities

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Pension Liabilities	(6,433)	(4,345)
	(6,433)	(4,345)

5.18. Related Party Transactions

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Hull City Council	55	42
East Riding Council	52	71
North Lincs Council	0	6
	107	119

5.19. Cash Flow Note

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Depreciation	4,923	3,761
Pensions Adjustments	481	932
Disposal of Non-current assets	11	0
Increase/(Decrease) Inventory	2	49
Increase/(Decrease) Debtors	(155)	-3
Other adjustments	0	1
(Increase)/Decrease Creditors	(224)	(218)
	5,038	4,522

5.20. Disclosure of Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments

Disclosure of Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments

The board's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including:

- Credit risk the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the board.
- Liquidity risk the possibility that the board might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments.
- Re-financing and Maturity risk the possibility that the board might be requiring to renew a financial instrument on maturity at disadvantageous interest rates or terms.
- Market risk the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Board as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates and market pricing of financial instruments.

The Board has due regard for the risk associated with the financial instruments that they hold. The procedures for risk management are set out through the legal framework in the Local Government Act 2003 and the associated regulations. These require the Boards to comply with the CIPFA Prudential Code, the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice. The board manages risk in the following ways:

- By formally adopting the requirement of the Code of Practice within its Treasury Management practices.
- By approving annually in advance, prudential indicators for the following three years within the Treasury Management Strategy limiting:
 - The Board's overall borrowing;
 - Its maximum and minimum exposures to fixed and variable rates;
 - Its maximum and minimum exposures to the maturity structure of its debt;
 - Its maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year.
- By approving an investment strategy for the forthcoming year setting out its criteria for both investing and selecting investment counterparties in compliance with the Government Guidance.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the board's customers. Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the minimum requirements of the investment criteria outlined in the Treasury Strategy. The Treasury Management Strategy was approved by the Board.

Liquidity Risk

The Board's only borrowing was to finance the building of the Bridge and subsequent interest payments. The Board is required by the Humber Bridge Act 1959 to make a balanced budget, which ensures sufficient monies are raised to cover the annual debt repayments and other outgoings.

In the unlikely event of an unforeseen deficit that cannot be met from the Reserve Fund, the Board has several options at its disposal, including increasing the level of tolls, which it would use to recover the position. Under the Humber Bridge Act 2013 the Board has two years to take action to recover such a deficit. If it was unable to do so, the Board would recover the remaining deficit in equal amounts from levies on the four constituent local authorities.

There is no significant perceived risk that the board will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments.

Re-financing and Maturity Risk

The board maintains an investment portfolio. Whilst the cash flow procedures above are considered against the re-financing risk procedures, longer-term risk to the board relates to managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments as they mature. This risk relates mainly longer-term financial assets but should further borrowing take place could also relate to the maturing of longer-term financial liabilities.

This risk is mitigated by monitoring the maturity profile of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is available for the Board's day to day cash flow needs, also the use of longer term investments provide stability of maturities and returns in relation to the longer term cash flow needs.

Interest rate risk

The Board is exposed to interest rate movements on its investments which are mostly deposits with financial institutions. Interest income forms part of the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement so any reduction in rates means less income is available to fund the Board's ongoing expenditure.

The Board has several Strategies for managing interest rate risk. The Treasury Management Strategy reviews expectations of interest rate movements and the Treasury team monitors interest rates to invest appropriately. For instance, during periods of falling interest rates, and where economic circumstances make it favourable, fixed rate investments may be taken for longer periods to secure better long-term returns.

Price risk

This is the possibility that there is a change of value of quoted investments. However, this risk is mitigated because most of the Board's investments are in money deposits with financial institutions which are not subject to changes in value.

Financial Instruments-Liabilities

	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost		
Outstanding loan as at 1 April	130,383	123,139
Interest payment charged to the Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement	3,438	3,082
Cash Payment		
-Interest	(3,438)	(3,082)
-Principal Repayment	(7,244)	(7,243)
Total outstanding Loan as at 31 March	123,139	115,896
Short Term element of the loan	(7,243)	(7,243)
Long Term Borrowing as at 31 March	115,896	108,653

	2020/21	2021/22
	£'000	£'000
PWLB Loan	7,243	7,243
Trade Creditors	609	467
TAG Creditors	1,181	1,361
TAG Deposits	1,348	1,456
Pre-Paid Tickets Creditor	320	0
Retentions held on Sub Contractors	153	15
Total	10,854	10,542

Financial Instruments-Assets

Financial Assets can be classified into two types:

• Loans and receivables-assets that have a fixed or determinable payment but are not quoted in an active market.

• Available-for-sale assets-assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have a fixed or determinable payment.

Loans and receivables shown in the balance sheet-all due within one year.

	2020/21	2021/22
	£'000	£'000
Short Term Investments	2,910	6,460
Debtors and Prepayments	292	274
Bank	151	119
Total	3,353	6,853

5.21. Reserves

Maintenance Fund	2020/21	2021/22
	£'000	£'000
Balance as at 1 April	5,578	5,578
Transfer from revenue	0	0
Transfer to revenue to fund maintenance	0	0
Financing Capital Expenditure	0	0
Balance as at 31 March	5,578	5,578

Capital Receipts Reserve	2020/21	2021/22
	£'000	£'000
Balance as at 1 April	96	96
Receipts in year	0	0
Applied to finance capital spending	0	0
Balance as at 31 March	96	96

Revaluation Reserve	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Balance as at 1 April	112,628	159,558
Prior Year Adjustment		(12,497)
Restated balance		<u>147,061</u>
Revaluation	46,930	27,330
Disposal	0	0
Difference between fair value and historical cost		
depreciation	0	(1,179)
Balance as at 31 March	159,558	173,212

Capital Adjustment Account	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Balance as at 1 April	126,707	122,875
Prior Year Adjustment		12,497
Depreciation of Non-Current Assets	(5,051)	(3,761)
Difference between fair value and historical cost depreciation	0	1,179
Write off gain/loss on disposal	0	0
Minimum Revenue Provision	1,219	19,982
Financing of Capital from Maintenance Reserve	0	0
Financing of Capital Expenditure	0	0
Balance as at 31 March	122,875	152,772

Pension Reserve	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Balance as at 1 April	(3,653)	(6,433)
Employer Contributions	444	478
Net revenue Account Costs	(875)	(1,410)
Remeasurement	(2,349)	3,020
Balance as at 31 March	(6,433)	(4,345)

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Balance as at 1 April	600	600
Additional deferred receipts	0	178
Receipts in year	0	0
Balance as at 31 March	600	778

5.22. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The items in the council's Balance Sheet at 31 March 2022, for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year, are as follows:

Uncertainties	Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions
Property, Plant and Equipment	

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about the level of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets.

If the useful life of assets is reduced, depreciation increases and the carrying amount of the assets fall.

It is estimated that the annual depreciation charge for buildings would increase by £0.06m if the average useful life of the board's assets fell by one year.

Pensions Liability

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the council with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. Only figures based on estimates have been provided by the actuary so far. Figures based on actual outturns are expected at some point and will be updated accordingly on receipt.

Impairment

At 31 March 2022, the HBB had a balance of £27,500 for doubtful doubts. After consideration, it was decided that the provision was no longer needed and will be written back to surplus.

The assumptions interact in complex ways. During 2021/2022, the council's actuary advised that the net pension liability had reduced by £3.0m as a result of updating the assumptions and actual contributions made. A sensitivity analysis can be seen in the Defined Benefit Pension Schemes note.